
From: Adams, Heather [AG] 
Sent: Tuesday, March 24, 2020 5:07 PM 
To: Langholz, Sam <sam.langholz@iowa.gov>; Michael Boal <michael.boal@iowa.gov>
Cc: Reisetter, Sarah [IDPH] <Sarah.Reisetter@idph.iowa.gov>
Subject: county and city authority 

You have asked for analysis on the question of the legal authority of counties and cities 
to enact local measures to require citizens of their jurisdictions to shelter in place during 
the current health public health disaster emergency. This analysis was drafted by Mike 
Bennett in my office with a review by Jeff Thompson, myself, and others. Please let us 
know if you have any further questions or research requests in this area. 

County and City Home Rules Powers: 

Article III, Section 38A and Section 39A contain the City and County Home Rule 
provisions in the Iowa Constitution. The powers granted cities and counties under these 
constitutional amendments are to determine their local affairs and government, not 
inconsistent with the laws of the General Assembly, except that they shall not have 
power to levy any tax unless expressly authorized by the general assembly. Counties are 
also constrained in their home rule powers if that power conflicts with the power of a 
city, providing a city power will prevail within its jurisdiction. 

When an ordinance prohibits an act permitted by a statute, or permits an act prohibited 
by a statute, the ordinance is considered inconsistent with state law and is 
preempted. See City of Des Moines v. Gruen, 457 N.W.2d 340, 342 (Iowa 
1990). Implied preemption occurs when the legislature has covered a subject by statutes 
in such a manner as to demonstrate a legislative intention that the field shall be 
preempted by state law. 

The powers exercised by cities under the Home Rule Amendments have been generally 
categorized as "police powers". These include the power of cities and counties to protect 
rights, privileges, and property of the city and county and to preserve and improve the 
peace, safety, welfare, comfort and convenience of their residents. Iowa Code Section 
331.301 (county) and Iowa Code Section 364.1 (City). These powers may be exercised by 
cities and counties subject to limitations expressly imposed by a state law, and are 
barred if such actions are irreconcilable with state law. Under Iowa Code Sections 
331.301 and 364.3, City mayors are further empowered to govern the city by 
proclamation during a time of emergency or public danger. Iowa Code Section 372.14. 

These authorities generally indicate authority for cities and counties to act to protect the 
safety of the residents of their communities yet require cities and counties to yield where 
the powers are inconsistent with powers of the state. 

State Powers 

A public health disaster is defined in Iowa law as a state of disaster emergency 
proclaimed by the Governor in consultation with the Department of Public Health for a 
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disaster that involves an imminent threat of a health condition caused by the 
appearance of a novel infectious agent and that poses a high probability of a large 
number of serious health consequences. Iowa Code §135.uto(6). During a public health 
disaster, the Governor and the Department of Public Health have broad legal authority 
to take all reasonable measures necessary to prevent the transmission of the virus and to 
prevent, control, and treat the infectious disease. These legal authorities are contained 
in part at Iowa Code sections 135.144 and 29C.6. These authorities include the powers 
to "control ingress and egress to and from a disaster area, the movement of persons 
within the area, and the occupancy of premises in such area." Iowa Code § 29C.6(15). 

Iowa Code Section 29C.6 (8) allows the Governor to delegate and sub-delegate any 
administrative authority under the Emergency Management Chapter. This indicates the 
Governor may delegate powers under emergency powers under that section to local 
authorities to address the current public health emergency, including the power to place 
restrictions on movement within the communities. This likewise indicates the 
Governor may choose not to delegate this authority to local agencies. 

Conclusion: While cities and counties have police powers to protect the health and 
safety of their citizens, the State has the authority to declare and coordinate the 
response to a public health disaster. This includes the power of the Governor to sub-
delegate administrative authority to cities and counties, including the power to restrict 
movement within communities by these local authorities. This power also would allow 
the Governor discretion to retain such powers and not delegate this authority to cities or 
counties. 
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Assistant Attorney General 
Office of the Attorney General of Iowa 
1305 E. Walnut St. 
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Email: Heather.Adams@ag.iowa.gov | www.iowaattorneygeneral.gov 
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